S253677

Case No. _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KENNEDY DONOHUE,
Plaintiff-Appellant and Petitioner,

v.

AMN SERVICES, LLC,
Defendant and Respondent

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D071865
San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2014-00012605-CU-OE-CTL
Hon. Joel Pressman, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William B. Sullivan (Bar No. 171637)
Eric K. Yaeckel (Bar No. 274608)
Sullivan Law Group, APC
2330 Third Avenue
San Diego, California 92101
(619) 702-6760 Telephone
helen@sullivanlawgroupapc.com
yaekel@sullivanlawgroupapc.com

David A. Niddrie (Bar No. 89990)
Rupa G. Singh (Bar No. 214542)

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This petition raises two issues about meal period protections whose uniform development is of widespread importance to millions of employees and their employers across this State.

1. Can employers use practices upheld in the overtime context to round employees' time to shorten or delay meal periods, despite the clear statutory mandate that they give employees a meal period of "not less than 30 minutes" that starts "no later than the end of an employee's fifth hour of work?"

- a. Is there a distinction between the purpose of (i) overtime statutes protecting employees' fiscal interest by ensuring fair compensation for a full eight-or-more-hour work day, and (ii) meal period laws ensuring employees' health and well-being with 30-minute meal periods every five hours to let them rest and recharge?
 - b. Can the fact that rounding may, in the long run, pay employees for the time they were actually on break nullify the denial of a timely or full meal period, which also affords employees the statutory right to an extra one-hour of pay?
2. Does *Donohue* conflict with other California cases adopting the framework that non-compliant time records create a rebuttable presumption of meal period violations?
 - a. Is *Donohue* correct that this presumption applies only at the class certification stage?
 - b. Does this Court's de-publication of cases declining to adopt, limiting the application of, or ignoring the meal period "rebuttable presumption" make this issue ripe for review by this Court?

II.

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted under California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1) to settle an important issue of law related to employee meal period protections, and to secure the uniformity of appellate decisions throughout the State in this arena.

A. Review Should Be Granted to Decide Whether Time Rounding Can Be Applied to Meal Period Statutes Without Eroding Their Unique Intent and Purpose

Until now, there has been a bright-line rule regarding two meal period guarantees—(i) employers must provide employees with meal periods of “not less than 30 minutes” (Labor Code, § 512 subd. (a)); and (ii) meal periods must start “no later than the end of an employee's fifth hour of work[.]” (Indus. Welf. Comm. (IWC) Wage Order 4, § 11, codified as Title 8, § 11040, subd. 11; *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1041 (*Brinker*).) In *Donohue*, an appellate court in this State has held for the first time, and in a reported decision, that employers can use “facially neutral” practices to round their employees' time up or down to the nearest ten-minute increment even if this frequently shortens the meal period to “less than 30 minutes” or delays it “later than the end of an employee's fifth hour of work.”

This is jurisprudentially problematic for at least two reasons.

First, facially-neutral rounding practices have been deemed lawful *only* in the fundamentally different overtime arena, and the rationale for the acceptance in overtime cases cannot be exported to the meal period context. Whereas overtime laws guarantee fair compensation for an eight-or-more hour workday, meal period protections safeguard employees' physical and mental health, allowing them to rest and recharge. Courts cannot bless violations of meal period laws in sympathy with employers' efforts to make their practices "neutral." And even assuming that rounding practices result in monetary "net neutrality" for employees in overtime cases, *Donohue* does not address whether net neutrality in meal period cases satisfies the legislative determination that an employee's physical and mental health requires at least 30-minute meal periods in five-hour increments. In other words, a 20-minute meal period after five and a quarter hours of work on Tuesday may not be offset, mentally or physically, by a 35-minute break after four hours of work on Wednesday.

Second, the *Donohue* Court's reasoning that rounding practices do not harm employees because, over time, they may end up getting paid for the few extra minutes when they were actually on

break overlooks a key fact. That is, the loss of a timely and full meal period comes with its own greater statutory penalty—an extra hour of pay (Labor Code, § 227.7, subd. (c))—which courts cannot substitute with pay for an extra few minutes here and there. Employees are entitled to be made whole through remedies deemed sufficient by the Legislature, not those created ad hoc by courts ill-equipped to weigh competing interests and to make policy determinations. Under the statutory scheme, if employers violate meal period guarantees, employees are entitled to the extra-hour pay penalty *in addition to* the pay they earned by working during their breaks.

By creating a new exception to meal period guarantees that is contrary to the Labor Code, relevant IWC Wage Orders, existing jurisprudence in this arena, and the legislative intent behind protecting employee's meal periods, *Donohue* sets a dangerous precedent that carries grave potential for employees to be exploited. Review is therefore necessary to settle this important issue of law.

B. Review Should Be Granted to Provide Guidance on Whether and When Employers' Own Time Records Constitute Presumptive Evidence of Statutory Violations

In her concurring opinion in *Brinker*, Justice Werdegar proposed that, if employer's time records showed missing,

shortened, or delayed meal periods, there should be a “rebuttable presumption” that a meal period violation did, in fact, occur. (53 Cal.4th at p. 1053 [Werdegar, J., conc.].) Since then, several courts have adopted this “time record presumption” as law. (*E.g., ABM Indus. Overtime Cases* (2017) 19 Cal.App.5th 277, 311; *Lubin v. Wackenhut Corp.* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 926, 951; *Safeway, Inc. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1138, 1159.) Also, this Court has de-published several opinions where courts have declined to adopt or limited the time record presumption. (*E.g., In re Walgreen Co. Overtime Cases* (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 437 [de-published Feb. 18, 2015]; *Hernandez v. Chipotle Mexican Grill* (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 1487, n.7 [de-published Dec. 12, 2012].)

However, at least one published appellate opinion, besides *Donohue*, has directly rejected the time-record presumption as a means to establish meal period violations. (*Serrano v. Aerotek, Inc.* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 773, 778.) Displaying its own confusion, the Fourth District, Division One, in *Donohue* declined to apply the presumption, reasoning that it is confined to the class certification stage, yet it separately affirmed judgment for employees after a trial based on time records, in conjunction with other evidence, in

another case issued shortly after *Donohue*. (*Compare Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 130–131 with *Carrington v. Starbucks Corp.*, No. D072392, 2018 WL 6695970, at *13 (Cal. Ct. App., order pub. 12/19/18).)

Review on this issue is needed to resolve conflicts regarding, provide clear guidance on, and secure uniform development of the law in, this important area of labor law.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant-Respondent AMN Services, LLC (AMN) is a health care and staffing company that recruits nurses for temporary contract assignments. (*Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr. 3d at p. 118.) Plaintiff-Appellant Kennedy Donohue worked as a non-exempt nurse recruiter for AMN, which required its employees to punch in and out for their shifts and their meal breaks on a computer-based timekeeping program. (*Ibid.*) The program rounded recruiters' punch times up or down to the nearest 10-minute increment, and AMN then used the rounded time—not the actual time—to calculate the hours worked and compensation owed. (*Ibid.*) AMN also used the rounded time, not actual time, to calculate whether timely meal breaks were taken, whether they lasted the full thirty minutes, and whether employees were entitled to penalty pay for statutory meal

period violations. (*Id.* at p. 119.)

On April 23, 2014, Plaintiff-filed a putative class action and representative action against AMN for various violations of the California Labor Code, including delayed and shortened meal periods. (AA Vol. I 6-63.) On October 13, 2015, the trial court granted class certification on five separate issues, including Plaintiff's claim that Defendant failed to provide class members with legally compliant meal periods. (AA Vol. IV 1013-1019.)

On September 23, 2016, AMN filed a motion for summary judgment. That same day, Plaintiff filed her own motion for summary adjudication directed at the meal period issue and certain AMN defenses. (AA Vol. VII 1955; Vol. IX 2277.) These two motions were heard and ruled on concurrently. On November 28, 2016, the trial court denied Plaintiff's motion and granted Defendant's motion in its entirety, rejecting evidence that, for example, class members were not paid for a total of 2,631.583 hours recorded on their time records as a result of shortened or delayed meal periods. (AA Vol. IX 2408 at ¶ 33; *Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 133 & fn. 29.) Judgement was entered for AMN, and Plaintiff filed an appeal.

On November 21, 2018, the Court of Appeal, Division One, Fourth District, issued its unpublished decision in *Donohue*,

affirming the judgment that, among other things, AMN’s rounding practices were legal and the rebuttable presumption of meal period violations did not apply. (*Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 126-134 & fn. 25.) Following two amicus requests, the Court of Appeal ordered the *Donohue* decision published on December 10, 2018. (*Ibid.*) An order modifying the opinion, with no change in judgment, was issued on December 28, 2018. (*Ibid.*) No petition for rehearing was filed in the Court of Appeal.

The *Donohue* opinion, publication order, and modification order are attached to this petition as Appendix A.

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. REVIEW IS NEEDED TO CLARIFY WHETHER EMPLOYERS MAY APPLY TIME ROUNDING TO SHORTEN AND DELAY EMPLOYEE MEAL PERIODS

The term “rounding” comes from the Federal Code of Regulations, which describes it as the practice “of recording the employees’ starting time and stopping time to the nearest 5 minutes, or to the nearest one-tenth or quarter of an hour.” (29 C.F.R. § 785.48(b).) Even though this can cause as much as fifteen-minute rounding intervals, the rationale is that “this arrangement averages out so that the employees are fully compensated for all the time they

actually work.” (*Ibid.*)

Federal and state courts in California have upheld rounding as a valid form of calculating employee’s *total hours worked* and *wages owed* under this federal regulation, so long as rounding is applied in a “neutral” manner. (*E.g., Corbin v. Time Warner Entertainment–Advance/Newhouse Partnership* (9th Cir. 2016) 821 F.3d 1069, 1076 [upholding rounding to nearest quarter hour under federal and California state labor laws to calculate compensation for time worked]; *See’s Candy Shops, Inc. v. Superior Court (Silva)* (2010) 210 Cal.App.4th 889, 907 (*See’s Candy I*) [to calculate wages due, employer may round work time to the nearest tenth of an hour if policy is facially fair and neutral, and does not systematically favor over- or under-payment].) This Court recently confirmed that “*See’s Candy* rested its holding on its determination that the rounding policy was consistent with the core statutory and regulatory purpose that employees *be paid for all time worked.*” (*Troester v. Starbucks Corp.* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 829, 833 (*Troester*); emphasis added.)

Consistent with this, there is no mention of meal periods in provisions on “rounding” as a tool to calculate hours worked in the California Division of Labor Standards Enforcement’s Enforcement Policies and Interpretations Manual (DLSE Manual). (DLSE Manual

§§ 47, 47.3, updated April 2017). Nor do any of the several sections in the DLSE Manual devoted to meal period obligations and rights—which mirror the Labor Code and IWC Requirements on meal period laws—mention, discuss or contemplate rounding. (DLSE Manual, § 45-1, updated April 2017.)

Going well beyond this judicial and statutory landscape, the Court in *Donohue* became the first to announce that rounding may be exported from the overtime context and used to comply with California’s separate meal period laws. (*Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 127–128.) Neither of two rationales articulated in *Donohue* justify this conclusion on an issue that, even letters supporting publication of the *Donohue* opinion admit, has widespread implications for (1) employees and the “[n]umerous employers” who use rounding across the state (See Request for Publication of *Donohue* by Amicus California Employment Law Council, Dec. 3, 2018); (2) “California lawyers, the bench and the bar, with respect to these recurring issues;” (*ibid.*; *accord* Request for Publication of *Donohue* by Amicus Employers Group, Dec. 6, 2018).

///

1. Because Overtime Laws Protect Employees' Fiscal Interests While Meal Period Laws Safeguard Their Health and Well-Being, Rounding Cannot be Exported from One Arena to the Other

The *Donohue* Court cited *See's Candy I* and *Troester* to support applying facially neutral rounding practices to meal period violations, explaining that rounding is “a wage and hour procedure that has been accepted in California since at least 2012” and “cited approvingly by our Supreme Court as recently as earlier this year.” (*Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 130–131; citations omitted.) But the court in *Donohue* failed to appreciate that *See's Candy I* only considered, and *Troester* only approved, rounding as a permissible manner of calculating total time worked for purposes of issuing pay. Neither considered the impact of this practice on evaluating and remedying meal period violations, which protect wholly different employee interests.

Whereas fair compensation for an eight-hour day, plus overtime pay for additional work, protects an employee’s financial interests, the guarantee of a full 30-minute meal period before the end of the fifth hour of work protects an employee’s physical and mental health. (*See, e.g., Kirby v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1244, 1255 [meal period requirement is “not aimed at protecting or providing employees’ wages,” but instead is

concerned with “ensuring the health and welfare of employees”; emphasis added]; *Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Prods., Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1113 [“health and safety considerations . . . are what motivated the IWC to adopt mandatory meal and rest periods in the first place”]; *Cal. Mfrs. Ass’n. v. Indus. Welfare Comm.* (1980) 109 Cal.App.3d 95, 115 [meal period provisions address some of “the most basic demands of an employee’s health and welfare”].)

While plaintiff-petitioner stressed the fundamental employee protective nature of meal period laws (see Appellant’s Reply Brief at p. 14, citing *Brinker*), it does not appear the *Donohue* Court considered this health and welfare distinction in its decision to apply rounding in this new context of meal periods.

Allowing already short meal periods to be “rounded” therefore nullifies the longstanding legislative protections unique to meal periods alone. (*Lazarin v. Superior Court (Total Western, Inc.)* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1560, 1571 [Industrial Welfare Commission was meant to adopt or amend working condition orders with respect to break periods, meal periods, and days of rest “consistent with the health and welfare of those workers”]; *Cardenas v. McLane FoodServices, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2011) 796 F.Supp.2d 1246, 1257

[legislative history indicates that a “meal period is necessary for the welfare for employees” and that the “general health and welfare of employees requires periods of rest during long stretches of physical and/or mental exertion”; citation omitted].)

If the *Donohue* result is allowed to stand, rounding practices will be used to erode the important health and welfare right to a timely and full, 30-minute meal period within the first five hours.

2. Rounding Practices That Compensate Employees for Actual Time Worked Do Not Nullify Meal Period Violations or Substitute for Accompanying Premium Pay Penalties

The Court in *Donohue* also reasoned that the meal period violations did not harm employees because, over time, rounding practices would properly compensate employees for time actually worked, and in fact, lead sometimes to them being paid when they were actually on break. (*Donohue, supra*, 241 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 131–133.) Concluding that this made the rounding policy “neutral,” the *Donohue* Court dismissed plaintiff’s concern that such practices “would quickly eviscerate employee[s’] statutory right to full 30-minute meal periods, especially in the context of rounding to the nearest quarter hour.” (*Id.* at p. 133.) But the Court is mistaken.

While calculations to determine the total hours worked can be

“rounded” in a neutral manner, resulting in fair pay for actual time worked over time, there is no reason to believe the same is true in the meal period context. Ample evidence established that rounding shortens a full 30-minute meal period and delays it beyond the fifth hour of work, as demonstrated by the examples below:

SHORTENED MEAL PERIODS

Day	Actual Lunch Punch IN	Actual Lunch Punch OUT	<i>Real Total</i>	Rounded in	Rounded out	False Total
Mon.	12:07	12:23	<i>16 min</i>	12:00	12:30	30 min
Tues.	12:05	12:25	<i>20 min</i>	12:00	12:30	30 min
Wed.	12:03	12:35	<i>32 min</i>	12:00	12:30	30 min

Though the above employee is provided only a 16-minute or a 20-minute meal period as a result of rounding on Monday and Tuesday, respectively, rounded times will falsely show a full 30-minute lunch, depriving the employee of the one-hour extra pay penalty for these violations. (Labor Code, § 227.7, subd. (c).) Meanwhile, the fact that this employee “gained” a 32-minute meal period due to rounding on Wednesday does not nullify the violations earlier in the week, or confer anything other than a de minimis benefit.

There is even less of an argument to be made for “neutrality”

with respect to delayed meal periods. Where meal periods are delayed past the fifth hour of work due to rounding, an employee loses both (1) the right to a meal period within the first five hours of work and (2) the right to a meal period penalty for a late meal period, as illustrated below:

DELAYED MEAL PERIODS

Day	Actual Start of Day Punch In	Actual Lunch Punch OUT	<i>Real Total</i>	Rounded in	Rounded out	False Total of Lunch Start
Mon.	7:53	1:07	<i>5 hr. 14 mins</i>	8:00	1:00	5 hr
Tues.	8:00	1:05	<i>5 hr. 5 mins</i>	8:00	1:00	5 hr
Wed.	7:55	1:05	<i>5 hr. 10 mins</i>	8:00	1:00	5 hr

This is not a purely hypothetical issue. In this case the record contained evidence of how rounding meal periods detrimentally effected plaintiff and similarly-situated class members, with more than 46,000 shortened and delayed meal periods documented and no meal period premium penalties paid. (AA Vol. IX 2404-2405 at ¶ 14-15.) The employer in *Donohue* saved more than \$800,000 from the determination that no meal period violations occurred in those

instances. (AA Vol. IX 2406 at ¶ 24). The class of employees in this case was of a very modest size. Should rounding of meal periods remain lawful, these numbers would be exponentially magnified with a larger employer.

The *Donohue* Court’s substitution of the existing legislative remedy for a shortened or delayed period—one extra hour pay penalty (Labor Code, § 227.7, subd. (c))—with the new judicial remedy of pay for a few extra minutes of time is wholly inadequate and misguided. (*Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Prods., Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1104 [an employee forced to forgo a meal period “loses a benefit to which the law entitles him or her,” and “[w]hile the employee is paid for the 30 minutes of work, the employee has been deprived of the right to be free of the employer’s control during the meal period”].)

Additionally, other appellate courts have held that, in addition to recovering an hour of premium pay, employees who get shortened or delayed meal periods are *also* entitled to recover wages for the three to five minutes they were required to work during their meal periods. (*Kaanaana v. Barrett Bus. Servs., Inc.* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 778, 240 Cal.Rptr.3d 636, 650, 658 (Ct. App. 2018),

review filed Jan. 9, 2019); accord Safeway Inc. v. Superior Court (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1138, 1160 [an “employer must still compensate the employee for the time worked” during the meal period].)

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