CASE NO. S253677

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

KENNEDY DONOHUE,

Plaintiff-Appellant and Petitioner,

v.

AMN SERVICES, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D071865
San Diego Superior Court Case 37-2014-00012605-CU-OE-CTL
The Honorable Joel Pressman, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY DOLLARHIDE (SB No. 138441)
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
4365 Executive Drive, Suite 1100
San Diego, CA 92121
Telephone: (858) 677-1400
Facsimile: (858) 677-1401

BETSEY BOUTELLE (SB No. 299754)
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
401 B Street, Suite 1700
San Diego, CA 92101-4297
Telephone: (619) 699-2700

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

ARGUMENT

I. Plaintiff Improperly Conflates the Issue of Time Rounding – a Recognized, Lawful Employment Practice – with Meal Period Violations.

Plaintiff states that “[u]ntil now, there has been a bright-line rule regarding two meal period guarantees – (i) employers must provide employees with meal periods of ‘not less than 30 minutes’ . . . and (ii) meal periods must start ‘no later than the end of an employee’s fifth hour of work[.]’” Petition at 10, citing *Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Super. Ct.*, 53 Cal.

4th 1004, 1041 (2012) (emphasis in original). She then suggests that *Donohue* “held for the first time, and in a reported decision, that employers can use ‘facially neutral’ practices to round their employees’ time up or down to the nearest ten-minute increment even if this frequently shortens the meal period to ‘less than 30 minutes’ or delays it ‘later than the end of an employee’s fifth hour of work.’” Petition at 10.

Donohue held no such thing. Rather, in reviewing the parties’ competing cross-motions for summary adjudication, *Donohue* found that “there is no basis on which to deny application of AMN’s California-compliant rounding policy to a recruiter’s meal period.” *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1089. Indeed, as argued below, there is nothing at all to suggest that time rounding as authorized in *See’s Candy Shops, Inc. v. Super. Ct.* contains an unstated exception for the time punches surrounding a meal period. 210 Cal. App. 4th 889 (2012) (hereinafter “*See’s Candy I*”). In fact, such an exception would very quickly swallow the rule, making rounding all but impossible. *Cf. Corbin v. Time Warner Entm’t-Advance/Newhouse P’ship*, 821 F.3d 1069, 1077 (9th Cir. 2016) (finding that plaintiff’s incorrect interpretation of the rounding rule, “if accepted, would undercut the purpose and would gut the effectiveness of a rounding policy”). In any event, the court of appeal noted that Plaintiff never raised the meal period rounding claim in the complaint, thus providing an independent basis for trial court’s denial of the claim. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1086.

Separately, the court of appeal found that no meal violation occurred where the employer provided workers with the opportunity to take a compliant meal period at a time of their choosing, and employees made no report of a missed meal. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1091-92 (“AMN has a complete defense to *Donohue*’s claim of meal period violations,” citing the Company’s undisputed evidence that it “had in place an effective

complaint procedure for an employee to inform the employer of any potential violation, but Donohue failed to inform AMN of any such violation.”).

Per the trial court, “Don[o]hue, the class representative was unable to identify a single occasion when she was denied a compliant meal period.

...

Q. Did any supervisor ever say you can't take a meal period today?

A. I don't remember.

Q. Did anybody ever tell you that you had to cut a meal period short so that it was less than thirty minutes?

A. No.”

Trial Court Minute Order, 13 AA 3473 (citations omitted). Donohue's testimony is consistent with the sworn statements of 30 out of 39 Nurse Recruiters who reported that they 'always' or 'usually' take uninterrupted lunches of at least 30 minutes on workdays at AMN. ***None said that a supervisor had ever tried to prevent them from taking a meal period.*** 11 AA 2991.

Further, Plaintiff certified each week on her timesheet that:

“I was provided the opportunity to take all meal breaks to which I was entitled, *or, if not, I have reported on this timesheet that I was not provided the opportunity to take all such meal breaks[.]*”

Donohue, 29 Cal App. 5th at 1091 (emphasis in decision). The lower court also found that “[t]he relevant AMN policies allow for meal and rest periods exactly as provided in Labor Code Section 226.7 and 512, and IWC Wage Order No. 4 Nor is there a uniform practice that is tantamount to a policy denying meal breaks.” Trial Court Minute Order, 13 AA 3472.

The court of appeal thus found that there was no violation of California's meal period law, and that rounded punch times “do not establish (or imply) noncompliant meal periods for which Donohue did not

receive an appropriate penalty payment.” *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1091; *see also Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1040 (holding that employers must provide, not ensure meal periods).

Indeed, the evidence in *Donohue* established neutral time rounding of all punches. In fact, rounding of actual punches benefitted the employees, including the named Plaintiff who was overpaid \$151.03 for actual time worked. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1084 n. 19. The evidence also proved the payment of myriad meal period premiums, either as a result of an automatic payment systems, or later as a result of employees reporting on weekly certifications that they had no opportunity for a compliant meal period. 8 AA 2168 at ¶¶ 25, 26.

Plaintiff’s cherry-picked examples of time punches do nothing to advance her request for further judicial review. At every stage of this lawsuit, Plaintiff has repeatedly seized on specific time punch examples to try to establish a violation of the law. But as both the trial court and the court of appeal noted, Plaintiff totally side-stepped AMN’s expert analysis with respect to both rounded punches and the payment of meal period penalties. “Donohue’s expert only considered the recruiters’ uncompensated time as a result of ‘Short Lunches’ and ‘Delayed Lunches,’” and failed to “consider evidence that Plaintiffs may have *gained* (and, in fact, did gain) compensable work time by the rounding policy.” *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1085. Plaintiff thus failed to establish a triable issue of fact related to rounded meal periods. *Id.* *See also* Trial Court Minute Order, 13 AA 3472.

By contrast, AMN’s expert analysis showed that over a five-year period, “rounding punch times to the nearest 10-minute increment resulted overall in ‘a *net surplus* of 1,929 work hours in paid time for the Nurse Recruiter class as a whole.’” *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1084. AMN’s expert thus found the rounding to be “*neutral*” in the long run. *Id.*

Importantly, AMN’s expert also confirmed that “[d]uring the pay periods corresponding to the Rounding Period, *AMN made a total of 2,104 Meal Period Payments* to the Nurse Recruiters.” 8 AA 2168 at ¶ 25 (emphasis added). Such evidence belies any policy or practice to either deny meal periods or refuse to pay meal premiums.

Plaintiff’s Petition also suggests that the *Donohue* decision somehow endorsed the notion that the gain of a few minutes time on some meal breaks as a result of rounding supplanted the need for a penalty where a meal period violation had occurred. *See* Petition at 24. The court of appeal asserted no such “new judicial remedy” as asserted by Plaintiff. *Id.* It simply stated that no penalty was owed absent a violation, and that in this case, no violation was ever proved. *Id. Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1087 (rejecting Plaintiff’s argument that “any meal period of less than 30 actual minutes is a per se violation of law”); and 1092 (finding that AMN had “a complete defense to Donohue’s claim of meal period violations”).

In its amicus brief supporting Plaintiff’s Petition, the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement thus misapprehends both the facts and the legal outcome of *Donohue*. Nowhere does that decision suggest that rounding of time worked eliminates the Labor Code requirement that an employer provide meal periods consistent with the strict requirements of California law. *Donohue* simply finds that (a) rounding is lawful when an employee is paid for all time worked and (b) on the evidence presented, including admissions by the plaintiff, no meal violations occurred for which premiums were not paid.

No one in *Donohue* ever suggested that meal time be averaged out across workdays to achieve compliance with California Labor Code. That is a phantom argument that makes no appearance in the trial court or appellate records. Rather, as demonstrated above, record evidence showed that across a five-year period, workers overall benefited from rounding with

respect to payment for time worked. Separately, the evidence showed that the company's policies were fully compliant with California law, and that meal premiums were regularly paid — including to Plaintiff — where appropriate. *Donohue*, 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1073 n. 4; AA 2168 at ¶¶ 25-26. AMN provided voluminous evidence to rebut any presumption of meal period violations, including compliant written policies, 40 class member declarations to which no evidentiary objections were raised, reams of data showing compliant meal periods being taken, more than 2,000 meal penalty payments being made, regular compliance certifications that the class members themselves provided in Team Time, and Plaintiff's own testimony. See 1 AA 235-64; 10 AA 2772; 5 AA 1288-7 AA 1899, Tabs 1-40 at ¶¶ 19-20; 8 AA 2162-71 at ¶¶ 17, 26, 28-29, 31; 8 AA 2066-67. *Donohue* therefore was decided entirely consistent with this court teachings in *Brinker*, as well as court of appeals' decisions in *See's Candy I* and other cases. E.g., *Silva v. See's Candy Shops, Inc.*, 7 Cal. App. 5th 235, 252 (2016), review denied (Mar. 22, 2017) ("*See's Candy II*").

II. Plaintiff's Misplaced Reliance on the *Brinker* Concurrence Does Not Warrant Review.

Plaintiff suggests a conflict in the law where none exists. Plaintiff leans heavily on a concurring opinion in *Brinker* that discussed a “rebuttable presumption” of meal period violations where time records indicate meal breaks were missed, late, or short. Notably, the presumption is (a) *rebuttable* and (b) appears in a concurring opinion, joined by one other justice, rendered in the context of determining whether a class might be properly certified. See *Brinker Rest. Corp. v. Super. Ct.*, 53 Cal. 4th 1004, 1052-53 (2012) (Werdegar, J., concurring). But as recognized in *Donohue*, and stated by this Court's majority in *Brinker*:

“[T]he certification question is ‘essentially a procedural one that does not ask whether an action is legally or factually meritorious’ [T]he question is not whether the plaintiff

or plaintiffs have stated a cause of action or will prevail on the merits, but rather whether the requirements of [class certification] are met.’”

53 Cal. 4th at 1023 (citations omitted).

In *Donohue*, Plaintiff attempts to export the *Brinker* concurrence to reach a decision on the merits. Thus, she argues that the Fourth District, “[d]isplaying its own confusion,” declined to apply the rebuttable presumption on summary judgment in *Donohue*, “yet it separately affirmed judgment for employees after a trial based on time records, in conjunction with other evidence,” in *Carrington v. Starbucks Corp.*, 30 Cal. App. 5th 504 (2018), 241 Cal. Rptr. 3d 647, 667-69 (Ct. App. 2018). Petition at 13-14.

There is no confusion on display. One case – *Donohue* – found that time records, without more, could not establish liability. The other, *Carrington*, found “substantial evidence supporting the trial court’s conclusion that Starbucks did not provide Carrington meal breaks as required by law[.]” *Carrington*, 241 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 662 (citation omitted). In particular, Carrington testified that when the store was busy, she would be required to work beyond the end of her scheduled 5-hour shift without taking a meal period. *Id.* at 657. She further testified that she was not permitted to start her break until she received approval from her supervisor. “This testimony, *coupled with Carrington’s time records . . . is substantial evidence to support the trial court’s conclusion that Starbucks did not provide Carrington with a meal break or the required premium . . .*” *Id.* at 664. (emphasis added). *Carrington* in no way supports a finding of liability based on meal punches alone. In fact, because the Plaintiff had established the existence of unlawful meal period practices, the *Carrington* court expressly “decline[d] to determine the nature or effect of any

rebuttable presumption that might be created by such time records. *Id.* at 667.

Donohue further argues that a schism exists in the law because this Court elected to de-publish three other decisions where the *Brinker* concurrence was found not applicable. Petition at 12-14. But setting aside the question of whether Plaintiff is permitted to cite de-published cases in this manner under Rule 8.1115 of the California Rules of Court, Plaintiff cannot dispute that two other *published* cases—as in *Donohue*—have likewise rejected arguments that time records showing potentially non-compliant meal periods could alone establish liability at the summary judgment stage. *See Serrano v. Aerotek, Inc.*, 21 Cal. App. 5th 773, 781 (2018) (court disagreed “that Aerotek should have investigated potential violations as revealed in the time records, noting that Aerotek did nothing to prevent Serrano from taking breaks and she never complained about not receiving them”); *see also See’s Candy II*, 7 Cal. App. 5th at 259. Rather than muddying the waters, *Donohue* falls directly in line with these cases, as well as the majority opinion in *Brinker*.

In Plaintiff’s world, any time record reflecting a missed, late or short meal period *ipso facto* establishes a meal period violation—even if the overwhelming weight of the evidence indicates that the non-complaint meal period was entirely the employee’s own choice. But Plaintiff’s interpretation is not the law. On the contrary, Plaintiff essentially demands that this Court reverse its previous guidance in *Brinker* and reject California courts’ subsequent application of that decision. *See Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1040 (finding that an employer has an “obligation to provide a meal period to its employees;” however, “the employer is not obligated to police meal breaks and ensure no work thereafter is performed”). *See also, e.g., Washington v. Joe’s Crab Shack*, 271 F.R.D. 629, 641 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (“plaintiff’s suggested solution of simply examining time records to

determine when meal breaks were not taken would be unavailing, as that would not answer the question *why* the employees did not take breaks”) (emphasis added). As stated by the majority in *Brinker*, “[p]roof an employer had knowledge of employees working through meal periods will not alone subject the employer to liability for premium pay[.]” *Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1040. Whatever the time records say, where, as here, the employer puts forth uncontroverted evidence that workers were provided the opportunity to take meal periods, and received premium payments where such did not occur, no violation exists.

III. The Trial Court’s Waiver Finding Makes This Case an Inappropriate Vehicle for Review in any Event.

The trial court granted summary adjudication of AMN’s Issue No. 2 directed at Plaintiff’s meal period claims:

on two independent grounds: (1) There was no evidence of a uniform policy or practice to deny meal periods; and (2) Donohue did not plead in the complaint that the rounding practice resulted in meal period violations.

Donohue 29 Cal. App. 5th at 1086. *See also* 13 AA 3470-71 (Minute Order on summary judgment holding that “[t]he Court agrees with AMN that the pleadings frame the issues on a motion for summary adjudication and a party cannot successfully resist such a motion based on allegations that are not contained in the complaint”) (citations omitted).

Plaintiff never raised her theory regarding meal violations based on rounding in any of the three iterations of her complaint. The trial court later ruled that Plaintiff could not rely on such a theory never stated in the lawsuit. 13 AA 3471. On appeal, Plaintiff’s Appellant Brief failed to address this alternative basis for granting summary adjudication of her meal period claim, and she still ignores this critical finding. But waiver of this failure-to-plead issue provides an alternative ground for affirmance that the court of appeal did not reach. This defect alone makes this case an

inappropriate vehicle for review. Thus, even if this Court finds some issue here worthy of review, it would be more appropriate to wait for a case uncontaminated by waiver of a key issue below.

CONCLUSION

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